**RECEIVED**

**Feb 12 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals**

---

**APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas**

**Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge**

---

**Appellate Case No. 2024-000995**

**Trial Case No. 2022CP4002713**

---

Elizabeth Ray and Melvin Ray,

Appellants,

v.

Sunsetter Properties and  
Home Inspection One,

Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Reagan Singletary  
The Singletary Group  
297 South Metts Street  
St. George, South Carolina 29377  
(803) 552-6957  
Attorney for Appellant

**

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT BEFORE THE COMPLETION OF DISCOVERY, INCLUDING AN IMPENDING DEPOSITION MATERIAL TO THE CASE IN CONTRAVENTION OF RULE 56'S PURPOSE?
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN STRIKING APPELLANTS' AFFIDAVIT AS UNTIMELY FILED DESPITE NO PREJUDICE TO RESPONDENTS?
3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DISMISSING CLAIMS AGAINST SUNSETTER PROPERTIES FOR ALLEGED IMPROPER SERVICE, AS RESPONDENTS WAIVED THE DEFENSE BY PARTICIPATING IN LITIGATION?
4. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANTS' REQUEST TO AMEND THE COMPLAINT TO ADDRESS ANY DEFICIENCIES IDENTIFIED BY THE COURT?
5. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN APPLYING THE ECONOMIC LOSS RULE TO DISMISS APPELLANTS' CLAIMS?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Appellants, Elizabeth and Melvin Ray, filed suit against Respondents, Home Inspection One, LLC, and Sunsetter Properties, LLC, alleging negligence and other claims related to a property inspection and undisclosed property defects. The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of Home Inspection One and dismissed claims against Sunsetter Properties due to alleged improper service and application of the economic loss rule. At the time of the summary judgment hearing, Appellants had not completed discovery, including a key deposition scheduled to provide evidence critical to their case. Appellants also requested leave to amend the complaint to address any deficiencies identified by the court, but this request was denied. Appellants now appeal the trial court's rulings on summary judgment, service dismissal, affidavit exclusion, and denial of leave to amend the complaint.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

In civil appeals, the appellate court reviews errors of law only, with factual findings sustained unless unsupported by evidence. A trial court's grant of summary judgment is reviewed de novo, requiring that no genuine issue of material fact exists. Rule 56, SCRPC mandates that summary judgment is appropriate only when the movant shows entitlement as a matter of law, and the nonmoving party has had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery on material issues. Whether service was proper and whether to grant leave to amend a complaint are also questions of law, reviewed de novo. See *Baggerly v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 370 S.C. 362, 635 S.E.2d 97 (2006).

## **FACTUAL BACKGROUND**

Appellants contracted with Home Inspection One, LLC, to conduct a property inspection before purchasing a home from Sunsetter Properties, LLC. After moving in, Appellants discovered several defects that were allegedly concealed or not disclosed, including unpermitted additions to the property. They subsequently filed suit, alleging that Home Inspection One failed to disclose these issues and that Sunsetter Properties, as the seller, failed to inform them of known defects.

During pre-trial proceedings, Appellants requested additional discovery, including a deposition of a housing inspector who could testify to building code violations and other structural issues affecting the property. This deposition was scheduled and intended to provide material evidence substantiating their claims. Nonetheless, the trial court granted summary judgment in favor of Home Inspection One and dismissed the claims against Sunsetter Properties for improper service

without permitting this crucial deposition to take place. Additionally, the court struck Appellants' affidavit, filed two days before the hearing, based on a narrow interpretation of the timing rule, despite a lack of prejudice to Respondents. Appellants also requested leave to amend their complaint to address any perceived deficiencies, but the court denied this request.

## **ARGUMENTS**

### **I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT BEFORE THE COMPLETION OF DISCOVERY, INCLUDING A PENDING DEPOSITION MATERIAL TO THE CASE, IN CONTRAVENTION OF RULE 56'S PURPOSE.**

Rule 56, SCRCP allows for summary judgment only when "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact" and when the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Summary judgment aims to avoid unnecessary trials on baseless claims, but it is not intended as a substitute for trial where genuine issues of material fact remain. The purpose of Rule 56 is to prevent the misuse of judicial resources while protecting the nonmoving party's right to fully develop their case through discovery.

In this case, the trial court prematurely granted summary judgment, depriving Appellants of a fair opportunity to conduct discovery on material issues. Specifically, Appellants' counsel argued during the April 16, 2024 hearing that a pending deposition of a housing inspector would yield critical information regarding unpermitted additions and code violations—facts directly relevant to their negligence claim. Without this deposition, Appellants were denied the opportunity to oppose summary judgment effectively, as they lacked essential evidence that would likely reveal material facts.

South Carolina case law supports the principle that summary judgment should not be granted until discovery is complete, particularly when pending discovery addresses material facts. In *Baughman v. American Telephone & Telegraph Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 410 S.E.2d 537 (1991), the court emphasized that summary judgment is inappropriate when relevant facts could still be discovered. Granting summary judgment while essential discovery is pending is an abuse of discretion because it prevents the nonmoving party from fully developing their case. Rule 56(f), SCRCF, explicitly permits the court to defer summary judgment to allow for additional discovery if the opposing party needs more time to gather evidence crucial to its claims.

By disregarding the pending deposition and granting summary judgment prematurely, the trial court contravened the purpose of Rule 56 and denied Appellants the procedural safeguards necessary for a fair determination of their case. The trial court's premature grant of summary judgment was therefore an abuse of discretion and warrants reversal.

## **II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN STRIKING APPELLANTS' AFFIDAVIT AS UNTIMELY FILED DESPITE NO PREJUDICE TO RESPONDENTS.**

The trial court excluded Appellants' affidavit, which was filed two days before the hearing, as untimely under Rule 6(d), SCRCF. In excluding the affidavit, the court interpreted the "two days" requirement narrowly, applying it as "two business days," and thereby excluded the affidavit from consideration. This interpretation, however, conflicts with precedent set in *Black v. Lexington School District No. 2*, 327 S.C. 55, 488 S.E.2d 327 (1997), which suggests that "two days" means two calendar days, regardless of weekends or holidays.

In *Black*, the South Carolina Supreme Court upheld the trial court's exclusion of an affidavit served within the two-day period specified by Rule 56, emphasizing that affidavits opposing summary

judgment must comply with the timeline regardless of intermediate weekends or holidays. The court did not allow any interpretation that would treat "two days" as "two business days" in that context. This strict interpretation underscores that "two days" means calendar days under South Carolina law, particularly in the context of Rule 56, thus supporting the inclusion of affidavits filed within that literal two-day window.

Moreover, the *Black* decision demonstrates the need for procedural fairness and a case-by-case consideration of potential prejudice. Here, the Respondents did not demonstrate any prejudice resulting from the filing of the affidavit two calendar days before the hearing. Procedural rules are intended to facilitate justice, not obstruct it by imposing undue technicalities. See *Dixon v. Dixon*, 362 S.C. 388, 608 S.E.2d 849 (2005) (emphasizing that procedural requirements should not obstruct the fair presentation of claims).

In light of *Black* and its interpretation of the "two days" requirement, the exclusion of Appellants' affidavit was an abuse of discretion, as it unduly restricted Appellants' ability to present critical evidence without any evidence of prejudice to Respondents. Therefore, Appellants respectfully request that this Court reverse the trial court's decision to strike the affidavit and consider the evidence in determining the merits of their claims.

### **III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING CLAIMS AGAINST SUNSETTER PROPERTIES FOR ALLEGED IMPROPER SERVICE, AS RESPONDENTS WAIVED THE DEFENSE BY PARTICIPATING IN LITIGATION.**

The trial court dismissed claims against Sunsetter Properties, LLC, for alleged improper service, despite substantial participation in the case by Respondents. Sunsetter Properties filed responsive pleadings, engaged in discovery, and filed motions—all actions that demonstrate a waiver of any

objections to service under South Carolina law. A party that actively participates in litigation effectively waives procedural defenses, including improper service. See *Stewart v. Richland Mem'l Hosp.*, 313 S.C. 402, 438 S.E.2d 897 (1993).

Allowing Sunsetter Properties to invoke an improper service defense after fully engaging in litigation contradicts the principles of fairness and due process, as it rewards Respondents for using service as a reserve defense while progressing through the case. Appellants reasonably relied on Respondents' active participation as an indication that the service issue had been waived. By dismissing the claims on these grounds, the trial court disregarded the substantial prejudice to Appellants, who were entitled to rely on Respondents' participation as waiving service objections. The dismissal was unwarranted and legally unsound.

**IV. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANTS' REQUEST TO AMEND THE COMPLAINT TO ADDRESS ANY DEFICIENCIES IDENTIFIED BY THE COURT.**

At the summary judgment hearing, Appellants requested leave to amend their complaint to address any deficiencies the court found in their initial pleadings. Under Rule 15(a), SCRCP, leave to amend "shall be freely given when justice so requires." The rule is designed to promote adjudication on the merits, rather than on procedural technicalities, and allows parties to cure defects in their pleadings when doing so would not prejudice the opposing party.

Here, the court's denial of Appellants' request to amend was an abuse of discretion, as it effectively precluded Appellants from rectifying any alleged deficiencies in their complaint. Appellants were willing and prepared to address the court's concerns and thereby ensure that their claims would proceed based on a complete and amended record. South Carolina courts have upheld the principle

that amendments should be permitted to avoid unnecessary dismissals, especially when no prejudice to the opposing party is shown. See *Parker v. Spartanburg Sanitary Sewer Dist.*, 362 S.C. 276, 607 S.E.2d 711 (2005). The court’s denial of leave to amend in this case unfairly limited Appellants’ ability to present their case on the merits and resulted in an unjust outcome.

**V. THE COURT ERRED IN APPLYING THE ECONOMIC LOSS RULE TO DISMISS APPELLANTS' CLAIMS.**

The trial court's reliance on the economic loss rule to grant summary judgment was misplaced. This rule generally restricts recovery for purely economic losses to contractual remedies; however, exceptions exist, particularly where there are allegations of fraudulent or negligent misrepresentation.

1. Separate Duty Owed in Tort: In *Carroll v. Isle of Palms Pest Control, Inc.*, the South Carolina Court of Appeals reaffirmed that for a plaintiff to pursue a tort claim alongside a contract claim, there must be a duty independent of the contract. The court noted that “[w]hen the breach of duty alleged arises out of a liability independently of the personal obligation undertaken by contract, it is a tort.” This standard is met here, where Appellants allege that Home Inspection One had a duty to accurately report the property's condition—a duty rooted in public safety and industry standards, not merely the contractual relationship. This duty is distinct from any contractual obligation, as it relates to the inspector’s professional role and the public's reliance on accurate inspections.
2. Negligent Misrepresentation Exception: South Carolina recognizes an exception to the economic loss rule for claims of negligent misrepresentation, which are distinct from simple breaches of contract. *Carroll* also acknowledges this principle by noting that economic loss

rules do not bar claims where tort duties exist independently of contract. Appellants' claim that Home Inspection One failed to disclose material defects or misrepresented the condition of the property invokes negligent misrepresentation, as it directly impacted the Appellants' reliance on the inspection report.

3. Expansion of Residential Exception: The court in *Carroll* referenced the "narrow exception" to the economic loss rule established in *Kennedy v. Columbia Lumber & Mfg. Co.*, which applies specifically to residential homebuilding. However, Appellants argue that this rationale should extend to home inspections because of the public reliance on accurate reports for safety and consumer protection. Like the builder's duty to construct safe homes, the inspector's duty to provide truthful and complete information aligns with consumer protection interests.
4. Physical Harm or Property Damage Beyond Economic Loss: Appellants contend that the harm they suffered due to undisclosed property defects extends beyond mere economic loss. The inspector's misrepresentations or omissions resulted in physical and structural property damage, which falls outside the economic loss rule's bar on tort claims. This property damage was not only economic in nature but also impacts the physical integrity and safety of the property, warranting a separate tort action.

The *Carroll* decision supports the position that the economic loss rule should not apply to cases where tort duties and public reliance are central to the defendant's role. Accordingly, Appellants' claims should not be dismissed under the economic loss rule, and this Court should remand the case for further proceedings on this basis.

## CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, Appellants respectfully request that this Court reverse the trial court's order granting summary judgment to Respondents, remand for completion of discovery, and allow Appellants to amend their complaint. The premature grant of summary judgment, the improper exclusion of evidence, and the erroneous dismissal of claims warrant a full reconsideration of Appellants' case.