RECEIVED

Mar 16 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2022-CP-40-02713
Appellate Case No. 2024-000995

Elizabeth and Melvin Ray,..... Appellants

vs.

Sunsetter Properties, LLC; Nancy Warner Agent for Coldwell Banker
Residential Brokerage; and Home Inspection One, LLC, Respondents.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
SUNSETTER PROPERTIES, LLC**

CALLISON TIGHE & ROBINSON, LLC

s/ Demetri K. Koutrakos
Demetri K. Koutrakos, SC Bar No. 11318
1812 Lincoln Street, Suite #200 (29201)
P. O. Box 1390
Columbia, SC 29202-1390
Telephone: 803-404-6900

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

Appellants rely on *Baughman v. American Tel. and Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 115, 410 S.E.2d 537, 545 (1991) for the proposition that "summary judgment is inappropriate when relevant facts could still be discovered." *Appellants' Brief* at 4. In *Baughman*, our Supreme Court reversed a grant of summary judgment to the defendant as premature. *Id.* at 114, 410 S.E.2d at 545. However, the Supreme Court found the plaintiffs had demonstrated a likelihood that further discovery would uncover additional, relevant evidence. *Id.* at 112, 410 S.E.2d at 544. Also, the Supreme Court found the plaintiffs had not been dilatory in seeking discovery. *Id.* at 113, 410 S.E.2d at 544.

Here, the exact opposite is true. Appellants have not demonstrated how any additional discovery would have supported their claims that Sunsetter made a negligent misrepresentation. Additionally, Appellants undoubtedly were dilatory in seeking discovery—they engaged in no discovery for over 22 months.¹

¹ Appellants complain they did not have the opportunity to depose Mr. Shabazz, someone unconnected to the transaction and perhaps an expert witness. Appellants it seems could have procured an affidavit from Mr. Shabazz but failed to do so.

Accordingly, the lower court did not err in finding Appellants had a full and fair opportunity to engage in discovery and that there was no reason to delay considering Sunsetter's summary judgment motion.

II. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY STRUCK APPELLANTS' AFFIDAVIT BECAUSE IT WAS NOT SERVED BY THE TIME LIMIT IMPOSED BY THE RULES, PREJUDICE IS NOT AN ELEMENT FOR THE LOWER COURT TO CONSIDER, AND EVEN IF IT WERE, SUNSETTER WAS PREJUDICED, AND THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION.

The lower court correctly found that Appellants failed to comply with the applicable time frame imposed by the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure to serve their affidavit.

Under Rule 6(d), "additional or opposing affidavits may be served not later than two days before the hearing." Rule 6(d), SCRPC. Under Rule 56(c), SCRPC, "The adverse party may serve opposing affidavits not later than two days before the hearing." Rule 56(c), SCRPC. In calculating the time required under the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, "when the period of time prescribed or allowed is less than seven days, intermediate Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays shall be excluded in the computation." Rule 6(a), SCRPC.

Under these straightforward rules, the latest that Appellants could have served an opposing affidavit was Friday, April 12, 2024. Instead, they did so less than 36 hours before the hearing, late on a Sunday evening, effectively giving Sunsetter one business day to consider the affidavit and respond.

Appellants assert *Black v. Lexington School District No. 2*, 327 S.C. 55, 488 S.E.2d 327 (1997) "suggests that 'two days' means two calendar days, regardless of weekends or holidays." *Appellants' Brief* at 4. That is not true.

In *Black*, the Supreme Court stated that the lawyer admitted "his failure to serve the affidavit within the time required by Rule 56" and did "not assert any good excuse for that failure. Under these circumstances, the lower court did not abuse its discretion by refusing to consider the

affidavit.” *Id.* at 60, 488 S.E.2d at 329. The Supreme Court bolstered its affirmance of the lower court’s proper refusal to consider the late affidavit by finding that, even if the affidavit had been considered, the grant of summary judgment was still proper. *See id.*

Appellants further argue that procedural rules are intended to facilitate justice, not obstruct it by imposing undue technicalities. To support that proposition, Appellants cite *Dixon v. Dixon*, 362 S.C. 388, 398, 608 S.E.2d 849, 853 (2005), saying that it emphasizes “that procedural requirements should not obstruct the fair presentation of claims.” However, that case says no such thing and the undersigned could not find any case that supports that proposition.

Our rules provide deadlines in part to ensure predictability and fairness to litigants. Appellants have shown no good cause for failing to comply with the rules. Instead, Appellants are asking this Court to ignore their lack of good cause and instead establish a requirement that Sunsetter show prejudice. No rule or case supports shifting the burden in this situation. In any event, when one party’s attorney ignores the rules and leaves opposing counsel with an unreasonable time frame to respond, this is prejudicial *per se*.

Despite having over eight months to prepare and serve an affidavit, Appellants failed to show good cause for failing to serve it in a timely manner. Appellants engaged in no discovery. In almost 22 months, they did nothing to prosecute their lawsuit or gather evidence. Accordingly, the lower court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to consider the Appellants’ late-filed affidavit. *See West v. Gladney*, 341 S.C. 127, 133, 533 S.E.2d 334, 337 (Ct. App. 2000) (“In the present case, more than two months passed from the time West served his affidavit until the hearing. In spite of this generous amount of time, Gladney did not file his affidavit opposing summary judgment until the day of the hearing. Moreover, Gladney failed to present any good cause for his failure to timely file the affidavit. Thus, under these circumstances, we find the lower court did not

abuse its discretion in ruling the affidavit should not be considered. Accordingly, we will not consider the affidavit in our review.”); *Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000) (“An abuse of discretion occurs when the lower court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.”).

III. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING SUNSETTER SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE EVEN IF THE LOWER COURT HAD CONSIDERED APPELLANTS’ AFFIDAVIT, THERE IS STILL NO EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION, THE ONLY CLAIM ASSERTED AGAINST SUNSETTER.

Appellants asserted one claim against Sunsetter, a claim for negligent misrepresentation. (R. p. 142). Even if this Court were to consider the late affidavit, as the Supreme Court did in *Black*, Appellants have not produced evidence that would support a negligent misrepresentation cause of action.

To establish liability for negligent misrepresentation, a plaintiff “must show (1) the defendant made a false representation to the plaintiff; (2) the defendant had a pecuniary interest in making the representation; (3) the defendant owed a duty of care to see that he communicated truthful information to the plaintiff; (4) the defendant breached that duty by failing to exercise due care; (5) the plaintiff justifiably relied on the representation; and (6) the plaintiff suffered a pecuniary loss as the proximate result of his reliance upon the representation.” *Sauner v. Pub. Serv. Auth.*, 354 S.C. 397, 407, 581 S.E.2d 161, 166 (2003).

Appellants have failed to show that Sunsetter made any false representation to Appellants.

In their Complaint, Appellants allege as follows:

8. Prior to purchasing the property Defendant Sunsetter Properties, LLC represented to the Plaintiffs in its State of South Carolina Residential Disclosure Statement that he had no knowledge of any defects with the property.

9. However, the Plaintiff’s learned after closing on the property in May of 2019 that the Defendant failed to disclose material defects to the property including water leaks, mold and mildew issues, plumbing deficiencies, and that reconstruction was

done to the home without the County inspecting it to determine if these improvements were up to code.

10. Upon information and belief, Defendant Sunsetter Properties, LLC knew or should have know that these deficiencies prior to selling the property to the Plaintiffs. Yet, it failed to disclose this information to the Plaintiff prior to closing. (R. p. 141).

In responding to an interrogatory requesting Appellants identify the claimed false representations, Appellants responded as follows:

Sunsetter properties had a duty to the plaintiff not to make false representations to the Plaintiff about the home. Sunsetter indicated that the hot water heater was replaced when it had not been replaced. Sunsetter properties did not seek permits for the sunroom which was an add on to the property, and did not have it inspected upon completion. Plaintiff is now experiencing leaks to the roof as a result. There is mold in the home also which required complete remediation. The representation was made in writing. Plaintiff did not learn of the misrepresentation for months if not years after she closed on the home. The Plaintiff reserves the right to supplement this request at a later date if necessary.
(R. p. 65).

In summary, Appellants identified three alleged false representations: (1) “Sunsetter properties did not seek permits for the sunroom which was an add on to the property, and did not have it inspected upon completion,” (2) “hot water heater was replaced when it had not been replaced,” and (3) “There is mold in the home.”

It is not disputed that the sunroom/porch was already there when Sunsetter purchased the Home. Sunsetter submitted pictures from an inspection report conducted by its lender when Sunsetter purchased the Home that shows the sunroom/porch was there. (R. p. 67, 76-85).

Sunsetter did not add the sunroom/porch to the Home as alleged by Appellants. As a result, Sunsetter was not required to obtain a permit for an addition to the Home made by prior homeowners. Appellants’ contention that Sunsetter made this representation and that it was false

is without merit and is not supported by any evidence. Furthermore, it is impossible to have been made and was never made.

Regarding the allegation of a water heater being replaced when it had not been replaced, Sunsetter made no such representation. (R. p. 69). As Appellants admit, all communications were made in writing. Neither the Contract nor the Disclosure Statement says anything to this effect. (R. pp. 86-100).

Finally, as to mold being in the Home, the Disclosure Statement did have a question regarding mold and other issues, and Sunsetter responded as follows:

VI. BURIED, UNBURIED, OR COVERED PRESENCE OF THE FOLLOWING: LEAD BASED PAINT, LEAD HAZARDS, ASBESTOS, RADON GAS, METHANE GAS, STORAGE TANKS, HAZARDOUS MATERIALS, TOXIC MATERIALS, OR ENVIRONMENTAL CONTAMINATION

A. Describe any known property environmental contamination problems from construction, repair, cleaning, furnishing, intrusion, operating, toxic mold, methamphetamine production, lead based paint, lead hazards, asbestos, radon gas, methane gas, formaldehyde, corrosion-causing sheetrock, storage tanks, hazardous materials, toxic materials, environmental contamination, or other: None

(R. p. 99).

Sunsetter answered “none” because it had no knowledge of any toxic mold in the Home. Mr. Langjahr clearly states in his affidavit that he had no knowledge or notice of any mold, toxic or otherwise in the Home. (R pp. 69-70). There is no evidence to the contrary. *See Fields v. Melrose Ltd. Partnership*, 312 S.C. 102, 439 S.E.2d 283, 285 (Ct. App. 1993) (“To be actionable, the representation must . . . be false when made.”); *Calland v. Carr*, No. 9:14-cv-0420-DCN, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 59175, at *12 (D.S.C. May 6, 2015) (court granted summary judgment to sellers as buyers “have failed to put forth sufficient evidence that the [Sellers] knew of current problems with the house when they filled out the disclosure statement on November 22, 2010,” with mold being raised as one of the issues).

To the extent there existed toxic mold in the Home on the date of the sale, Appellants had the opportunity to inspect the Home to determine if that was the case, something they opted not to

do, even though the home inspector they hired advised them to do so. *See Byrn v. Walker*, 275 S.C. 83, 88, 267 S.E.2d 601, 603 (1980) (“It is generally held that one has no right to rely on representations as to the condition, quality or character of property . . . where the parties stand on an equal footing and have equal means of knowing the truth.”).

In their affidavit, which, as the lower court correctly concluded, “makes no sense,” (R. p. 284, l. 13), Appellants failed to show any false representations they claim Sunsetter made. Throughout this case, Appellants made vague accusations without evidentiary support that are contrary to the documents. Although Appellants asserted a negligent misrepresentation claim against Sunsetter, Appellants have not pointed to or provided any evidence of any false representation made by Sunsetter or any reliance by Appellants on any representation made by Sunsetter.

Regarding the sunroom/porch, Appellants state, “Additionally, the Defendants misrepresented themselves by not disclosing that the sunroom was an addition completed without permits, a fact they were aware of, as indicated by statements made within their affidavit. Consequently, the 901 Valhala [sic] Property is not in compliance with building codes and regulations.” (R. p. 13). This statement makes no sense. As stated in Sunsetter’s affidavit, the sunroom/porch was built before Sunsetter purchased the Home. Sunsetter made no statements or representations regarding permits for the sunroom/porch, and Appellants produced no evidence showing Sunsetter knew no permits were obtained. (R. p. 6). Sunsetter did not check for old permits before or during its ownership of the Home. There is no requirement to do so. (*Id.*) Appellants have not pointed to any such requirement or provided any evidence that a homeowner should check the permit records to ensure that all prior home improvements done by previous owners were done with a permit. This claim and assertion make no sense.

In trying to decipher what Appellants say about mold, it appears they say that Sunsetter should have been aware of mold because of certain conditions, primarily the absence of moisture barriers. (R. p. 12). They further state that a report conducted later found mold. (R. p. 12). The inspection report that Appellants procured before closing says nothing about moisture barriers. (R. pp. 101-123). After receiving the inspection report, Appellants asked Sunsetter to make repairs as noted in the Repair Addendum. (R. p. 68). Some of those items in the inspection report and the Repair Addendum are the same items Appellants say in their affidavit somehow show that Sunsetter knew of mold.² Sunsetter made those repairs to the satisfaction of Appellants, and the closing took place. There is no evidence that Sunsetter knew anything about mold or made any false representations.

Most of Appellants' affidavit suggests that Sunsetter promised to do certain things but did not do them. Of course, that is because they conflate what was identified in the inspection report and what was repaired. The Repair Addendum is where Appellants and Sunsetter agreed that certain items (not all) identified in the inspection report should be repaired. Sunsetter made those repairs to Appellants' satisfaction. Now, Appellants wrongly claim that all the items in the inspection report should have been addressed.

Even disregarding this conflation, Appellants assert that Sunsetter agreed to perform certain actions but failed to fulfill them. Sunsetter was not sued for breach of contract but instead was sued for negligent misrepresentation. Moreover, for a false representation "to be actionable, the representation must relate to a present or pre-existing fact and be false when made" and "[t]he

² In other words, Appellants appear to state that because certain conditions were noted in the inspection report, which they paid for and received, Sunsetter should have known there was mold. What Appellants ignore is that they were on notice of the same conditions. *McLaughlin v. Williams*, 379 S.C. 451, 457–58, 665 S.E.2d 667, 671 (Ct. App. 2008) ("there can be no reasonable reliance on a misstatement if the plaintiff knows the truth of the matter.").

representation cannot ordinarily be based on unfulfilled promises or statements as to future events.” *Fields v. Melrose Ltd. P'ship*, 312 S.C. 102, 105, 439 S.E.2d 283, 285 (Ct. App. 1993). As a result, saying you are going to do something and not doing it, which is not what happened here in any event, does not support a claim for negligent misrepresentation.

Appellants have not provided evidence that Sunsetter made a false representation to Appellants and that they justifiably relied on any representation made by Sunsetter. Accordingly, even if the lower court had considered Appellants’ late-filed affidavit, which the lower court properly rejected, summary judgment in favor of Sunsetter was proper.

IV. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR WHEN IT DISMISSED THE CLAIMS AGAINST SUNSETTER FOR IMPROPER SERVICE AND LACK OF JURISDICTION WHEN SUNSETTER WAS NEVER SERVED WITH THE SUMMONS AND COMPLAINT, SUNSETTER RAISED IMPROPER SERVICE AS A DEFENSE IN ITS ANSWER AS REQUIRED BY RULE 12(h), APPELLANTS DID NOTHING TO CURE THE IMPROPER SERVICE, AND NO WAIVER OCCURRED AS A MATTER OF LAW.

The lower court correctly found that service of the Summons and Complaint on Sunsetter was improper and, therefore, properly dismissed the Complaint under Rule 12(b)(2) and 12(b)(5), SCRCF.

Appellants purported to serve Sunsetter’s registered agent, Greg Langjahr, by providing copies of the Summons and Complaint to Langjahr’s son at the Langjahr home. Nicolas Langjahr, Greg Langjahr’s 17-year-old son, testified he has nothing to do with Sunsetter, he is not and never was authorized to accept service of legal papers on behalf of Sunsetter, and he never told anyone otherwise. (R. pp. 181-182).

Service on a limited liability company, such as Sunsetter, is governed by Rule 4(d)(3), SCRCF, which provides that “Service shall be made as follows:”

(d)(3) Corporations and Partnerships. Upon a corporation or upon a partnership or other unincorporated association which is subject to suit under a common name, by delivering a copy of the summons and complaint to an officer, a managing or

general agent, or to any other .nt authorized by appointment or by law to receive service of process and if the agent is one authorized by statute to receive service and the statute so requires, by also mailing a copy to the defendant.

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-9-210 also applies, which provides as follows:

(a) A domestic business or nonprofit corporation's registered agent is the agent of the corporation for service of any process, notice, or demand required or permitted by law to be served, and the service is binding upon the corporation.

(b) The business or nonprofit corporation may be served under Rule 4(d)(8) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the office of the registered agent, or the office of the secretary of the corporation at its principal office. Service is effective upon the date of delivery as shown on the return receipt. Entry of default and default judgments shall be subject to the conditions of Rule 4(d)(8).

Sunsetter's registered agent is and has always been Greg Langjahr. (R. p.66). Greg Langjahr was never served with the Summons and Complaint. Instead, his 17-year-old son was served, who was not authorized to accept service of process on behalf of Sunsetter. (R. p. 67).

This substitute service on a limited liability company is improper and not authorized by statute. Service on Sunsetter was, therefore, improper. *See* 19 Am Jur 2d *Corporations* § 1895 (2023) ("Service made on the spouse, minor child, or parent, of a corporate officer has been held invalid. Likewise, service cannot be made on the spouse, or employee of a registered agent or individual with whom a corporation's registered agent resided . . . "); *Phillips v. Incline Manor Ass'n*, 530 P.2d 1207, 1207–08 (Nev. 1975) ("Service of process was attempted by leaving a copy of the summons and complaint with the fourteen-year old son of the president of the defendant corporation at the president's residence. Service was ineffective for failure to comply with the requirements of NRCO 4(d)(1) which designates the manner in which a domestic corporation is to be served.").

Sunsetter raised this issue in its Answer with specificity. (R. pp. 147-148). By applicable rule, this did not and cannot result in a waiver. See Rule 12(h)(1), SCRCP ("A defense of lack of

jurisdiction over the person, improper venue, insufficiency of process, insufficiency of service of process, or that another action is pending between the same parties for the same claim is waived (A) if omitted from a motion [made pursuant to Rule 12] or (B) if it is neither made by motion under this rule nor included in a responsive pleading or an amendment thereof permitted by Rule 15(a) to be made as a matter of course.”). Here, improper service was raised by answer and by motion.

Appellants argue that Sunsetter waived this argument by filing pleadings, engaging in discovery, and filing motions. Appellants raised this issue orally at the hearing, but the Court never ruled on this issue. This issue is, therefore, not preserved for review. *See Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) (“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.”); *Elam v. S. Carolina Dep’t of Trans.*, 361 S.C. 9, 24, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780 (2004) (noting a party must file a Rule 59(e) motion “when an issue or argument has been raised, but not ruled on, in order to preserve it for appellate review”).

Appellants cite the case of *Stewart v. Richland Mem’l Hosp.*, 313 S.C. 402, 438 S.E.2d 897 (1993) for the proposition that when a “party actively participates in litigation effectively waives procedural defenses, including improper service.” No such case appears in the citations provided by Appellants. There is a case with a similar name, *Stewart v. Richland Mem’l Hosp.*, 350 S.C. 589, 591, 567 S.E.2d 510, 511 (Ct. App. 2002), but that case primarily addresses issues related to the South Carolina Tort Claims Act and the standard of care applicable to governmental entities in negligence actions.

Our courts have found a waiver of improper service but only in cases where it was not raised in the answer or not raised sufficiently. *Garner v. Houck*, 312 S.C. 481, 487, 435 S.E.2d

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